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)



)

DECISION


Randy Hartzell is subject to discipline because he engaged in sexual activity with a client.
Procedure


On July 16, 2007, the Board of Therapeutic Massage (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Hartzell.  On July 23, 2007, we served Hartzell with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  Hartzell did not file an answer.  On December 17, 2007, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Rex Patrick Fennessey represented the Board.  Although he was notified of the time, place, and location  of the hearing, neither Hartzell nor anyone representing him appeared.  The matter became ready for our decision on March 26, 2008, the date Hartzell’s brief was due.

Findings of Fact

1. Hartzell is licensed as a massage therapist.  His license is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.
2. On August 13, 2006, Hartzell provided massage therapy to J.B., a. client, while employed as a massage therapist at the Westin Crown Center Hotel in Kansas City, Missouri.
3. On August 13, 2006, while retained in a professional capacity as a massage therapist, Hartzell participated in oral sexual activity with J.B.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Hartzell has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Board offered its investigation report as evidence.  There was no objection.  Where no objection is made, hearsay evidence in the records can and must be considered in administrative hearings.
  The Board also called its investigator, who had spoken with J.B. and Hartzell, as a witness.
Qualified Protective Order

The Board asks us to seal part of its Exhibit 2 because it contains protected health information that is protected from disclosure by the United States Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPPA”), 45 C.F.R. § 164.502.  We agree that these pages may be sealed under § 610.021(14), RSMo Supp. 2007, which allows us to close “[r]ecords which are protected from disclosure by law[.]”  We grant the Board’s motion and seal pages 1-11 and 20-21 of Exhibit 2.
Cause for Discipline

The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 324.262:
2.  The board may file a complaint with the administrative hearing commission, as provided in chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any license issued pursuant to sections 324.240 to 324.275 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *

(4) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performing of the functions or duties of the profession regulated by sections 324.240 to 324.275;

(5) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 324.240 to 324.275, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to sections 324.240 to 324.275 . . . .
Subdivision (5)


The Board’s regulation 20 CSR 2197-3.010 sets forth standards of practice for massage therapists.  The regulation in effect at the time of the conduct stated:

(2)
Dual Relationships.

(A) No massage therapist shall:

*   *   *

2.  Engage in sexual conduct with his/her client(s) during a massage session;

3.  Exercise influence within a massage therapist-client relationship for purposes of engaging a client in sexual activity during a massage session[.]
*   *   *

(3)
Client Welfare.

(A) Each massage therapist shall:

1.  Conduct their business and professional activities with honesty and integrity[.]

By pursuing and participating in sexual activity with J.B. on August 13, 2006, Hartzell violated 20 CSR 2197-3.010(2)(A)2.  There is cause for discipline under § 324.262.2(5).

By pursuing and participating in sexual activity with J.B. on August 13, 2006, Hartzell violated 20 CSR 2197-3.010(2)(A)3.  There is cause for discipline under §324.262.2(5).

Integrity means “firm adherence to a code of esp. moral or artistic values[.]”
  By pursuing and participating in sexual activity with a client, Hartzell violated 20 CSR 2l97-3.010(3)(A)1.  There is cause for discipline under §324.262.2(5).
Subdivision (4)


The Board argues that by pursuing and participating in sexual activity with J.B., Hartzell engaged in behavior that constitutes misconduct in the performance of the functions or duties of the profession of massage therapy.  Misconduct is the intentional commission of a wrongful act.


As discussed above, Hartzell violated the standards of his profession when he engaged in sexual activity with a client.  We agree that he committed misconduct.  There is cause for discipline under § 324.262.2(4).
Summary


There is cause to discipline Hartzell under § 324.262.2(4) and (5).

SO ORDERED on June 12, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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